Chapter 14

Psycho-Social Aspects of Smoking

Contents

	Page
INTRODUCTION	361
DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS	361
Age	361
Smoking by Socioeconomic Level	362
Occupation	362
Education	363
Sex	363
Race	363
Marital Status	364
Religion	364
Rural versus Urban	364
Summary	364
PERSONALITY AND SMOKING	365
Extroversion and Introversion	365
Neuroticism	366
Psychosomatic Manifestations	367
Psychoanalytic Theory	367
Summary	368
TAKING UP SMOKING	368
Parents' Smoking Patterns	369
Intelligence and Achievement	370
Some Hypotheses on the Beginning of Smoking	371
Status Striving	372
Rebellion Against Authority	373
Smoking as a Response To Stress and aa a Tension Release .	373
DISCONTINUATION	374
SUMMARY	370
CONCLUSION	377
PERFERENCES	2=-

Chapter 14

INTRODUCTION

The smoking habit has been found to be linked with several demographic variables (such as age, sex, socioeconomic level, etc.), with a number of general behavioral patterns (such as degree and kind of participation in a variety of social activities), with psychological characteristics (such as intelligence, school achievement, etc.), and with certain personality variables (such as intro- and extroversion, gregariousness, feelings of inferiority, need for status, etc.).

A brief general discussion will be followed by a review of empirical evidence linking demographic characteristics with smoking. Certain psychological-personality variables will then be considered, followed by a review of what is known about the beginning of the smoking habit and about its discontinuation. Finally, general conclusions will be drawn about the present state of knowledge.

The term "smoking," unless otherwise specified, refers throughout to cigarette smoking only, because almost all research in the area has dealt only with cigarette smoking.

DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS

A clear and authoritative demographic description of smokers is not readily available from any one study on the subject. The considerable differences in the characteristics of the smoking population as reported by various studies can probably be explained by one or more of the following factors:

- 1. Samples were drawn from populations differing in geographical location and in a number of other population characteristics.
- Data in the several studies were collected during different years between the 1930's and 1962. Therefore, some differences in reported data could be due to time trends.
- 3. Methods of gathering information differed among the studies.
- 4. Data were analyzed and/or grouped in different ways.

Nonetheless certain trends seem to be well established.

AGE

As far as is known from actual data, few children smoke before the age of 12, probably less than five percent of the boys and less than one percent of the girls. From age 12 on, however, there is a fairly regular increase in the prevalence of smoking. At the 12th grade level, between 40 to 55

percent of children have been found to be smokers. By age 25, estimates of smoking prevalence run as high as 60 percent of men and 36 percent of women. There is a further increase up to 35 and 40 years after which a drop is observed. In the 65 and over age group, prevalence of smoking is only approximately 20 percent among men and four percent among women.

These distributions are based on cross-sectional rather than longitudinal data and may be subject to considerable change over the years as each generation of smokers carries its own smoking pattern into higher age brackets. It is also conceivable that increased public attention to possible hazards of smoking within the last few years has led to some decrease in the number of smokers. a decrease not evenly distributed among the several age groups. Since these statistics were collected several years ago, they may not reflect current age distributions. More recent but limited data suggest that there has been an increment in smoking prevalence at all age levels since the early fifties (7, 13, 23, 26, 31).

Horn (11) estimates that 10 percent of later smokers "develop the habit with some degree of regularity" before their teens and 65 percent during their high school years. It seems, then, that the years from the early teens to the ages of 18-20 are significant years in exposing people to their first smoking experiences.

SMOKING BY SOCIOECONOMIC LEVEL

Empirically, socioeconomic level is usually determined by means of one or several separate and measurable variables such as income, education. occupation and type of residence.

Despite the use of different determinants of class status, there is rather consistent evidence that smoking patterns are related to socioeconomic level in that the lower or working classes contain both more smokers and earlier starters. This has been found in America as well as in England 13, 4, 10, 22, 27).

As to separate class-linked variables, income does not seem to be related in a consistent manner to prevalence of smoking either in England (39) or in the U.S.A. (26). There does appear to be some tendency toward fewer male smokers among those with a yearly income below \$2,000 (as of 1956) and, in the older groups only, with an annual income over \$5,000. On the other hand, income does relate positively to the quantity of cigarettes consumed.

OCCUPATION

Almost as many different ways of classifying and grouping occupations have been used as there are studies dealing with this variable, making comparisons extremely difficult. Moreover, most groupings are not very meaningful since they used broad and comprehensive job classifications which obscure some of the most important occupational characteristics. For example, the category "professional" encompasses (as do other categories) a tremendous range of occupations. These vary widely among

themselves with respect to many characteristics that may be significantly associated with smoking habits. For these and other reasons it is not surprising that data reported on the relationship between occupation and cigarette smoking are anything but easy to interpret. Nonetheless, if occupation is used merely as a class-index, these data are in accord with those obtained in reference to other socioeconomic indices: whitecollar, professional, managerial and technical occupations contain fewer smokers than craftsmen, salespersons, and laborers.

Unemployed have been found to be somewhat more likely to smoke than employed (23).

According to Lilienfeld (19), smokers change jobs significantly more often than non-smokers. Specific data as to reasons for such changes are not given, however, making this variable difficult to interpret. Repeated job changes may be indicative of neurotic traits as the author proposes, but they may also be due to other reasons which create psychological pressures to which smoking is one possible response.

EDUCATION

The relationship between smoking and education is unclear. Lilienfeld (19) failed to find educational differences between smokers and non-smokers in his 1956 probability sample of adults in Buffalo, New York. Matarazzo and Saslow (23) also concluded that educational attainment, in terms of highest grade completed, does not differentiate smokers from non-smokers. Hammond (81, on the other hand, reported a curvilinear relation among men between 45 and 79 years of age. Smokers were under-represented among those who never attended high school and among college graduates, and over-represented in all the categories between.

Because of the strong relationship between education and occupation, the trends found in regard to occupation may reflect those found in regard to education: those occupations normally associated with high education show, by and large, a smaller prevalence of smokers.

Sex

Fewer women smoke than men and their smoking is almost entirely restricted to cigarettes. However, the proportion of women smokers has increased faster than that of men smokers in recent years. Horn (11) reports that a recent American Cancer Society survey showed an increase since their 1955 survey of five percent (from 31 to 36 percent). Salber and Worcester (28) suggest on the basis of a sample of senior students at Newton, Mass., high schools that "women, particularly Jewish women, may soon overtake men in the number who smoke."

RACE

The proportion of smokers is roughly the same among whites and nonwhites (7) and relations of smoking to sex and age also were comparable in the two groups. But many more heavy smokers (more then one peck per day) were found among whites, as compared with non-whites, in the case of both men and women. Since, as was reported earlier income was found to relate to amount. though not to prevalence, of smoking, this racial difference could reflect economic differences between whites end non-whites.

MARITAL STATUS

Smoking (of any kind) is most prevalent among the divorced and widowed and least among those who hare never been married. except that among persons over 45, never-marrieds are as likely to be smokers as the married. (7).

RELIGION

There is evidence of lower smoking rates within some religious sects which condemn smoking (16) and among persons who hold devout religious beliefs. For example, less smoking was found among Harvard students who were religious and whose parents were devout; and non-smokers seem more inclined to attend church than smokers (3, 22, 37). Both Horn (110) and Straits and Sechrest (37) report over-representation of smokers among Catholics, a church in which more tolerance is shown towards smoking than among some Protestant churches.

As in all such correlational studies it is impossible to say whether there is a direct causal link between religion and abstention, or whether some other factors account both for the religious convictions and the abstention from smoking.

RURAL VERSUS URBAN

There are proportionally fewer smokers in rural than in urban areas, but the smallest percentage of smokers is within the rural farm population. The rural non-farm population is more like the urban population with only slightly fewer smokers than in the latter. No relationship of smoking to size of community has been established. No convincing interpretation can be offered in view of the lack of additional date.

SUMMARY OF DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS

No single comprehensive theory to explain smoking is suggested by these demographic data taken by themselves. In fact, the only known attempt at formulating a theory which is, at least partly, related to or based on such data revolves around a hypothesis relating smoking, or not-smoking, to introjected culture standards linked to social class norms in our society (21, 22).

Nonetheless, there are many, though not always clear, relationships between smoking and a variety of social end economic variables. Taken al-

together, there emerges the picture of smoking as a behavior that has over many years become tied closely to many of the complexities of our present society. There can be no doubt that smoking as a habit is determined in some measure by a variety of such social forces as are reflected in demographic data of the kind reviewed above. But it will be some time before the specific interrelations can be disentangled.

Since man is not a passive target of such forces but an active participant, no possible explanation can omit consideration of the way in which he reacts to and, in turn, creates such forces, in short, a consideration of personality factors.

PERSONALITY AND SMOKING

All research studies on the relation between smoking and personality select one or several, more or less distinct personality traits or characteristics for scrutiny. For example, they may try to test hypotheses on the interrelation between smoking and introversion, smoking and neuroticism, smoking and anxiety, etc. A few students have tried to describe personality syndromes by a synthesis of several such traits. At the present state of knowledge, however, it is more fruitful and more valid to speak not in terms of a "smoker personality," but rather in terms of discrete personality characteristics which may be found to be associated with smokers.

Certain difficulties are encountered in reconciling findings from the several studies. Sometimes authors use identical terms even though there is some doubt that they refer to the same concept. For example, the term "neuroticism" in one study may refer to a personality trait as measured by certain psychological tests, in another to a classification of observed so-called nervous behavior. When data from studies using the one are at variance with data from studies using the other, it is difficult to say whether these studies really are yielding contradictory findings, or whether differences in such data are due to the fact that they reflect different variables. In addition, psychological techniques for the assessment of personality are still of uncertain validity, some possibly of little or no value. For example, in a number of studies the investigators have made up a priori scales, tests or questionnaires without any reported attempts at establishing their reliability or validity.

EXTROVERSION AND INTROVERSION

One of the best-designed studies (1, 6) was carried out in England using representative samples and objective techniques using questions previously developed by Eysenck and claimed by him to "have been found to be reasonably valid measures of three personality traits, extroversion, neuroticism, and rigidity." (6). If one accepts the author's claim that the questionnaire really did measure these traits, a very significant relationship was found between extroversion and smoking. Heavy smokers were more extroverted than medium smokers; these were more extroverted then light smokers and

ex-smokers; and both non-smokers and pipe smokers were least extroverted. Two consecutive studies with different representative samples yielded the same results, and the association of smoking with extroversion was also supported by several other investigators, such as MrArthur et al (22) and Schubert (34). Another study by Straits and Sechrest (37) using the Social Introversion Scale from the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory on a rather small and probably biased sample did not support this finding.

The general picture which emerges from Eysenck's study and from others is one of smokers tending to live faster and more intensely, and to be more socially outgoing.

Several studies, using behavioral rather than psychological test data. support this picture. Davis (4) describes young smokers as "more gregarious and socially advanced" than non-smokers. McArthur et al (22) report similar findings.

However, a compilation of actual participation of smokers end non-smokers, respectively. in a number of specific social activities as reported by several investigators (4, 13, 19, 30) yields conflicting data. Smokers are reported to participate more in such social activities as dancing, courtship, and fraternities-in line with what would be expected of extroverted individuals. As to participation in sports, findings in some studies favor the smoker, in others the non-smoker. Non-smokers were found by one investigator to show greater social participation in organizations and to hold more offices--activities more associated with extro- than with introversion. Smokers show greater interest in TV and movies. non-smokers in reading books. Studies and cultural activities are over-represented among non-smokers.

These conflicts in the data as collected do not necessarily reflect real conflicts, however. Some sports may be of a less gregarious or extroverted nature than others (for example, swimming or tennis es compared to football). Offices in college organizations also may range from president of a cultural club to class president. It is altogether possible that this range can accommodate introverted as well as extroverted students. Lumping together heterogeneous activities under one broad descriptive term, as done in so many studies on smokers' behavior, may obscure real relationships.

In any case, while the association between extroversion and smoking is fairly well supported by available evidence, less certainty exists as to the exact nature of this association. It is possible that extroversion is directly related to smoking as a habit pattern. that is, that smoking is an expression of this kind of personality, as most authors seem to imply. It is equally plausible that the extrovert, by virtue of his greater participation in various social activities. exposes himself more to social stimuli to pick up and re-enforce the smoking habit. He may also be more susceptible to social influence.

NEUROTICISM

Several studies. using a variety of methods, have **investigated** variables related more or less vaguely with what **may** be subsumed under the term neuroticism. Such variables include **neuroticism** as a personality trait in-

ferred from such varied indices as psychological tests, existence of anxiety states, "nervousness," somatic symptoms, unusual restlessness in terms of iob and residence, and others.

Most studies support the contention that neuroticism, in this wide sense, is indeed associated with the smoking habit (16, 18, 19, 24, 25).

A few studies fail to demonstrate any relationship of smoking behavior with one or another of these neurotic characteristics. Straits and Sechrest (37) found no significant difference in anxiety as measured by Taylor's Manifest Anxiety Scale (in contrast to Matarazzo who did). Eysenck et al. (1), using a neuroticism-scale, did not find any significant relationship of neuroticism either to type or degree of smoking. He does suggest, however, that "inhaling may he more prevalent among the more neurotic and emotionally disturbed."

The state of our knowledge in respect to the smoking-neuroticism syndrome can be best summarized this way:

Despite the individual deficiencies of many of the studies, despite the great diversity in conceptualization and research methods used, and despite certain discrepancies in reported findings, the presence of some comparability between them and the relative consistency of findings lend support to the existence of a relationship between the smoking habit and a personality configuration that is vaguely described as "neurotic." However, there are no acceptable studies that help decide how this relationship arises, to what degree (if at all) neuroticism leads to the beginning and/or to the continuation of smoking, or to what degree if at all, it accounts for habituation and resistance to discontinuation.

PSYCHOSOMATIC MANIFESTATIONS

In a study by Matarazzo and Saslow (23), smokers report more psychosomatic symptoms than non-smokers in responses to the "Saslow Psychosomatic Screening Inventory." However, differences were significant in only one of three groups tested.

In the English study by Eysenck (1) heavy, medium and ex-smokers of cigarettes were found to have the largest number of psychosomatic disorders, non-smokers the least, light cigarette and pipe smokers being intermediate. None of these differences, however, were statistically significant.

There is no persuasive evidence that smoking and psychosomatic ailments are associated to any important degree.

PSYCHOANALYTIC THEORY

Psychoanalysts have advanced the hypothesis that smoking, like thumbsucking, is a regressive oral activity related to the infant's pleasure at his mother's breast (36). It is claimed that male thumbsuckers are very likely to smoke and drink in later years. The frequently observed fact that those who stop smoking show increased food consumption, weight gains and use of chewing gum also supports the oral hypothesis. However, Kissen (15) argues that this could be explained in terms of purely physiological responses.

714-422 0--64--25 367

McArthur et al. (22) found a positive statistical relationship between the ability to stop smoking and the number of months of breast feeding. He also reports that thumb-sucking in childhood was more common among men who continued to smoke. The data provided are insufficient to assess these claims, but they do at least suggest that the oral hypothesis warrants further investigation.

SUMMARY OF PERSONALITY AND SMOKING

Some investigators have attempted to synthesize many of the differences in personality characteristics, as they have been found or suggested by a variety of studies, into a comprehensive "smoker personality." What emerges in each case is an artifact.

"While smokers do differ from non-smokers in a variety of characteristics, none of the studies has shown a single variable which is found exclusively in one group and is completely absent in the other" (23). Nor has any single variable been verified in a sufficiently large proportion of smokers and in sufficiently few non-smokers to consider it an "essential" aspect of smoking. "While this is true for all of the variables . . . it is especially true for the variables measuring personality characteristics a clear-cut smoker's personality has not emerged from the results so far published in the literature" (23).

Nonetheless, there appear enough differences between smokers and nonsmokers to warrant the assertion that there are indeed different psychological dynamics at work. However, in what ways these differ, and to what extent these differences are cause, or effect, or both, is not yet known.

TAKING UP SMOKING

All available knowledge points towards the years from the early teens to the age of 20 as a significant period during which a majority of later smokers began to develop the active habit. For this reason, many studies have focused on smoking among youths, almost exclusively selecting high school and college students as their subjects.

The trend to an inverse relationship between smoking and socioeconomic level is more pronounced when smoking among children is examined in the light of parents' socioeconomic status. For example, Salber and MacMahon (27) report significantly fewer smokers among Newton, Mass., public school students (grades 7 through 12) in the upper than in the lower socioeconomic levels. Horn et al. (13) found a significant inverse positive relationship between parents' education and children's smoking behavior in students in the Portland, Oregon, high school system, although this relationship diminishes with grade, becoming negligible by the senior year. Several other studies, with more narrowly selected samples, yielded similar results.

Smoking patterns among children could be influenced by their parents' smoking patterns which, in turn, are affected by the latter's social class-linked characteristics. On the other hand, the social class level of children them-

selves is associated with a number of factors that could influence their behavior. For example, children from better homes may go to different schools, may show higher learning ability and motivation, may associate with different kinds of peers, may engage in different kinds of social activities, and so forth. All these factors could have a bearing on their smoking, independent of, or in addition to influences exerted by their parents. There can be little doubt that all of these observations must be considered in any attempt to answer the question of initiation of smoking.

PARENTS' SMOKING PATTERNS

Horn et al. (13) found a strong association between parents' and children's smoking habits. There is a consistent increase in the number of high school smokers from their freshman to their senior years, regardless of sex or parental habits. But within each year there are significantly more smokers in families where both parents smoke than in families where neither parent smokes. Various combinations of smoking practices of father and mother respectively, also affect children's habits differentially. Horn's findings are supported by those of Salber and MacMahon (27) obtained from Newton, Mass., high school students.

This congruity between parents' and children's smoking habits has led some investigators to ascribe, explicitly or implicitly, simple and direct causal properties to parents' smoking behavior. It has even been asserted that the most effective way to diminish smoking radically among children would be to decrease smoking among their parents. However, such congruity could be due to several factors. Parents could exert direct and forceful influence on their children; the attitudes and practices of smoking parents could create a general atmosphere of permissiveness in the home; conflict between parents' exhortations and their actual behavior could influence children's perception of the pros and cons of smoking. Selection of social associates on the basis of similar attitudes and behavior norms may lead to a social life on the part of the parents involving other families (and their children) who smoke, thus providing additional social smoking stimuli for their own children. Then, there is the availability of cigarettes in a home where parents smoke which could facilitate the child's first steps towards smoking. Finally, the possibilities of similarity in personalities of parents and children cannot be ruled out.

Even in families where neither parent smokes there is a striking increase with age in smoking among children. Moreover, congruity between the two generations diminishes with each year from freshman to senior year. That this trend of diminishing congruity continues into college is suggested by the findings of Straits and Sechrest (37) who report from a sample of 125 male college students that smokers are not more frequently from families in which both parents smoke.

The most plausible (though not necessarily the only) interpretation is that, as children grow older, they themselves, as well as their relationship to the home, change. With approaching adulthood and its associated new social patterns, other influences supplant those of the parents. The children

spend increasing amounts of time away from their immediate families and their direct supervision and are increasingly exposed to other social influences. They begin to exert their independence more and more. In fact, as will be seen later, hypotheses to the effect that taking up smoking may be a symptom or an expression of striving for self-assertion have been advanced and have received some support from various investigations.

It is quite possible that parents' influence affects the age at which children start smoking much more than it affects the ultimate taking or not taking up of the habit.

With very few exceptions, the association between parents and children's smoking behavior has been investigated only via inferences drawn from statistical relationships. The exceptions offer data that are mostly of doubtful validity (mainly because of unsophisticated techniques for eliciting self-reports by children or because of non-representative sampling) or are insufficient for the derivation of any even moderately firm conclusions. No study employing appropriate and intensive methods on adequate samples has been found which examined the nature of the psycho-social dynamics. Therefore, all interpretations of the association between parents' and children's smoking habits must remain on the level of hypotheses, no matter how suggestive the data may appear to be.

INTELLIGENCE AND ACHIEVEMENT

Children's intelligence does not seem to be related to whether they take up smoking or not. Earp (5), Matarazzo et al (24), Kissen (15), and Matarazzo and Saslow (231 all failed to find significant correlations between intelligence measures and prevalence of smoking.

Salber et al (32) report that among boys from the Newton, Mass. public schools, non-smokers in every grade have "a higher mean IQ than discontinued smokers who, again have higher mean IQ's than smokers the trend in girls, though similar in direction, is less marked." However, no statistical tests are reported and an approximate check on the reported data by means of several t-tests does not support the authors' contention.

In the same study a high relationship was found between achievement scores obtained from school grades and non-smoking, and the authors conclude that "the difference in smoking habits results from differences in academic achievement rather than intelligence." Earp (5) found that more smokers than non-smokers among Antioch College students failed to graduate. Lynn (20) claimed that non-smoking adolescents make higher grades (but scholastic averages according to age were found sometimes to favor the smokers) Horn et al. (13) present evidence that there is a higher proportion of smokers among high school students who are older than the modal age of their classmates. The authors describe such students who are older than their classmates as students who "tend to be scholastically unsuccessful" implying that under-achievement may relate to their smoking. However, since smoking is age-linked among high school students, statistical differences between older and younger students within any given school grade can be accounted for by their age differences.

Thomas (38) and Lilienfeld (19) found no differences between smokers and non-smokers in academic standing and in number of years of schooling completed, respectively.

In general, the evidence seems somewhat to favor a moderate tendency towards less satisfactory achievements by smokers than by non-smokers. Again, the question of "why" is difficult to answer. It is most unlikely that smoking itself could be responsible. It is possible that whatever accounts for poorer classroom performance may also account for the higher smoking prevalence. It is also possible that smoking is an effect of frustration. or of other psychological reactions to such failure to maintain high scholastic standards.

SOME HYPOTHESES ON THE BEGINNING OF SMOKING

Davis (4) deduces from responses to the question "how did you come to start?" two factors that explain the beginning of smoking: a *sociability-imitative* and a *wish-for-adult-status* factor. Support for this hypothesis is seen in the similarity between parents' and children's smoking habits. Other studies (2, 3, 5, 13) also support it.

Despite this agreement among several studies, at least along general lines, and despite the plausible, common-sense nature of the hypothesis, it is not an altogether satisfying one. First, evidence is derived largely from self-reports. These may or may not reflect valid insight on the part of the respondents. Second. the similarity between parents' and their children's smoking behavior lends itself to such other, and perhaps more plausible, interpretations as have been presented earlier. Third, the explanations for first smoking, such as "curiosity." "saw others smoke" or "someone offered me a cigarette" (reported by investigators) come to mind easily and this may account for the frequency with which children offer them rather than other possible explanations requiring both deeper insight and more introspective efforts.

Considering that during adolescent years the problem of becoming an adult is universal and that smoking has probably become a very pervasive symbol of adulthood in our society, the hypothesis fails to explain why so many children, under the very same circumstances fail to become smokers. A collection of self-inspective reports from smokers, even though probably representing valid reasons for those respondents who give them. is not sufficient to explain why these respondents, but not others, become smokers. In order to have greater confidence in this hypothesis, it is necessary to know whether non-smokers do not also have the "wish for adult status"; whether, if they do, they do not see smoking as appropriate symbolic behavior; if they do not see it as such a symbol, why some do and others do not: and if non-smokers do see it as such a symbol, why do they not take up smoking.

As to "imitation," it is less an explanation than a description of what occurs. In somewhat more dynamic terms, one might think of it as conforming behavior in the sense that conformity with the behavioral norms of one's social reference groups may be a means for gaining social acceptance. Although the hypothesis has a persuasive ring and has some suggestive

evidence, all that can be said is that these two factors, imitation and desire for adult status, may play a role in inducing some, and perhaps many, children to take up smoking.

STATUS STRIVING

Some students of smoking behavior have looked at the dynamics of "striving for status" in a broader sense. as a manifestation of interrelated basic psycho-social needs. To be accepted by one's reference persons, particularly one's peer groups, to develop self-esteem and an acceptable self-image, and to cope with painful feelings of inadequacy, are such basic psycho-social needs. Of these, striving for adult status is only one aspect. It is entirely possible that, if smoking is related to the latter, it may be more in terms of keeping abreast of one's peers than in terms of deliberately wanting to be an adult.

Horn (11) points out that there emerges from a variety of studies a "syndrome of intercorrelated measures that seem to have in common the failure to achieve peer group status or satisfaction." The reference is to such reported findings as that smoking is more frequent among students who are older than their classmates. fell behind their peers in scholastic standine. become drop-outs, and choose easier over more demanding curricula. This relation between under-achievement and smoking has generally been interpreted in terms of compensation.

Salber et al. (32) suggest, "it may be that children who do not achieve this desirable state (good standing with family and peers) because of poor academic grades, find in taking up smoking a way of demonstrating their maturity and achieving acceptance in a peer group whose values are somewhat different from those of the academically more successful student." In a wider sense, Horn (11) regards smoking as a "compensatory behavior, a symptom of other problems of emotional health."

Other authors have found evidence of greater participation of smokers in sports (although this evidence is not entirely consistent), of smokers' more daring war records, of their poorer disciplinary records, and of impulsive, rebellious behavior, especially on the part of heavy smokers (20, 22, 33). The findings from anthropometric studies of students' physiques which detected an association between physical masculinity and non-smoking (35) has also been cited as support for this interpretation.

Once again there is considerable evidence to render the hypotheses advanced very plausible but not altogether satisfactory. A number of questions can be raised. First of all, the evidence that scholastic underachievement may be to some measure responsible for smoking (as is more or less strongly implied by some authors) is not very impressive. For example, in all studies reviewed, the fact that a student does not perform as well as his peers in the classroom is accepted as prima-facie evidence that he feels psychologically frustrated or socially deprived. The underlying assumption is that children generally see scholastic achievement as an important goal to strive for, and that even partial failure to achieve this goal is sufficiently disturbing to them to lead to compensatory behavior. This assumption is open to question especially among population groups in whose hierarchy of values

the pursuit of intellectual goals does not rank very high. Many children from lower socio-economic levels (who contribute considerably to the ranks of "underachievers" and among whom smoking is more prevalent), may be among those who ascribe relatively little importance to competing successfully with their peers in classroom performance. No studies have demonstrated that there is a relation between smoking and under-achievement as a psychological variable.

The evidence concerning greater participation of smokers in sports is, as stated earlier, not consistent. Nor is the evidence on each of the other variables that are presumed to be indicative of status deprivation or status striving.

Other questions can be raised. Even if smokers do participate in more sports, do engage in more dating and courtship behavior (4) and generally do manifest more "masculine behavior," why need this be interpreted as "compensatory" behavior rather than a reflection of actual masculinity? It these behaviors are mere demonstrations of masculinity, why should smoking be taken up as an additional, certainly less self-evident, demonstration of masculinity? Why is it that smoking, a habit acquired increasingly by women, should persist in carrying with it such a pervasive symbolic meaning of masculinity? And again there is the troublesome question as to why some, but not so many others, choose this particular means of giving evidence of their masculinity?

At present, there is persuasive, but not convincing evidence that smoking among adolescents may in many cases be related to needs for status among peers, self-assurance, and striving for adult status.

REBELLION AGAINST AUTHORITY

Since a need for independence, a striving for adult status and more stature among one's peers in an adolescent are associated with rebellion against authority, the hypothesis relating smoking with such rebellion is a logical extension of the foregoing hypothesis.

While rebellion may play a role, perhaps an important one, there is not much evidence for it. Claims in the literature are at best based on circumstantial, suggestive evidence, linked to conclusions by a chain of questionable assumptions.

SMOKING AS A RESPONSE TO STRESS AND AS A TENSION RELEASE

Stress seems to be related to smoking, as it does to a score of other habits. There is some evidence that the experience of stressful situations contributes to the beginning of the habit, to its continuation, and to the number of cigarettes consumed (4, 14, 22). Kissen (15) concludes that "cigarette consumption increases in relation to the occurrence of some emotionally stressful situations. Such situations therefore appear to play a part in perpetuating smoking. The interpretation of what is emotionally stressful may depend on its particular significance to the individual, that is, it may depend on the personality traits of the individual."

A plausible case can be made that the experience of stress together with social situations favorable to smoking can provide the trigger to initial experiments with smoking as well as a mechanism to reinforce the habit once established.

Considerable evidence lends credence to this hypothesis, "Nervous" traits, anxiety, and over-reaction to environmental stimuli have been found to be very prevalent among smokers as compared to non-smokers. Under. achievement, that is failure to live up to one's expected norms, may produce stress if the experience is relevant to a person's needs and values. Cartwright et al. (3) found that men often tended to start smoking when they took their first wage-earning job. This could be due to the tensions and anxieties associated with the event, together with new social influences and, perhaps, the new-found freedom from home restraints. The same explanation could be advanced for the observed increase in initial smoking among young men in military service (7).

More direct, but possibly less reliable, is evidence from self-reports of smokers. With, great consistency, investigators have reported that smokers state they tend to smoke, or to smoke more, under temporary stress-producing experiences. As McArthur et al. (22) point out, such short-lived fluctuations in response to brief stress episodes would not be detected by survey methods that elicit information on smoking behavior at only one point in the smokers' lives or even, as in MrArthur's case, at yearly intervals. Here again different and more intensive research methods are called for.

Existence of an association between stress and tensions on the one hand, and smoking behavior on the other can probably be accepted with a reasonable degree of confidence. It should be noted, however, that stress, as here used, is defined in terms of an inner psychological-physiological response to certain external events. The fact that a number of people may be exposed even simultaneously to the same stressful life situation does not necessarily mean that all of them experience stress or experience it to the same extent and in the same way. Whether they do, in what way, and to what extent depends, among other things, on the psychological meaning that the situation has for them. This, again, points to the need to supplement broad correlational studies with research that more specifically examines constellations of the several interdependent variables within and without the individual.

Furthermore, the role of smoking relative to the tension which presumably evokes it is not at all clear. Is smoking merely an expression of tension or does it serve as a reducer of psychic tension? If the latter, is it effective, that is, would tension actually be less while smoking a cigarette than while not doing so? No research has apparently dealt with this problem.

DISCONTINUATION

Consideration of factors involved in discontinuation of smoking may help understand the nature of the habit itself.*

^{*}Because the present chapter is concerned only with psycho-social aspects, discussion of methods of discontinuance or their relative effectiveness has been dealt with elsewhere (see Chapter 13).

Even less is known about discontinuance than about beginning of smoking. However, there is good evidence that it is related to the beginning of the habit, its nature, and its duration.

The rate of smokers who discontinue has consistently been found to be highest among those who start late in life, have smoked the least number of years, and whose average cigarette consumption has been smallest (7,11,16, 22).

Most frequent reasons for discontinuing given by children who had been fairly regular smokers but had quit, were lack of enjoyment and dislike for smoking. Interestingly, these reasons differ from reasons given by children who have never smoked for not taking up smoking. These latter are more along health, aesthetic and moral lines (29).

Among adult smokers who quit (the 1955 census data list about 11 percent, a rate that has probably increased in the intervening years), the most frequent reasons given were "various health considerations, the expense, moral reasons, and a test of one's will power" (9, 16). Relatively few people refer to publicity about lung cancer (17), but this may be changing with increased public attention to this issue. Also, the surprising lack of reference to fear of disease among respondents may be a function of certain inhibitions to admitting such a negative motive for what is generally regarded as an intelligent and desirable thing to do.

A study carried out in 1957 by Lawton and Goldman (17) yielded some interesting results that throw some light on the effects of intellectual elements in relation to discontinuation of smoking and at the same time raise some puzzling questions.

Two groups of scientists, matched for age and sex, and for the scientific nature of their interests formed the subjects. One consisted of 72 well-known lung cancer scientists, the other of experimental psychologists. Significantly fewer of the cancer specialists than of the psychologists were smokers, and the same difference existed in respect to the number of persons in each group who believed cigarette smoking to be a cause of lung cancer. But there was no difference in respect to the number of persons in the two groups who had discontinued smoking within the past five years, nor in respect to the number of smokers who expressed dissatisfaction with their smoking habits. Most interesting, however, was the finding that when those in the two groups who believed smoking to be a cause of cancer were compared, it was the psychologists who expressed more dissatisfaction with their own smoking, and who exhibited a significantly lower prevalence of smoking, a higher rate of attempted discontinuations, and a higher rate of deliberately diminished amount of cigarettes consumed.

There is no readily available convincing explanation for this finding, but it does demonstrate that the smoking habit is linked with so many aspects of a person's psychological make-up that mere intellectual awareness of risks involved, even among those with rather intimate and intensive contact with the subject, is insufficient to overcome other dynamic factors involved.

On the other hand, Horn (12) related that among several approaches used to modify high school children's smoking habits, the "remote" approach involving a logical appeal to the intelligence of the boys and girls proved

to be the relatively most effective one. There was evidence, according to Horn, that "this approach was most effective among those who smoked in emulation of their parents, and less so among those who smoked for the more emotionally tinged reasons of compensation or rebellion." Unfortunately, it is not entirely clear from the description of the study how trustworthy was the identification of the motives underlying these children's smoking. Yet, these results agree logically with the position that there is no single cause or explanation of smoking, but that smokers may start, continue, and discontinue smoking in response to different inner needs and external influences, social and other.

SUMMARY

Scientific investigations into the psycho-social aspects of smoking are relatively recent and, except for a few large-scale and systematic studies, leave much to be desired from the standpoint of methods and conceptions. However, evidence from a few sound studies and converging evidence from many studies, none of which could stand up by itself under exacting scrutiny, permit the following statements concerning the relationship between psychosocial characteristics and smoking behavior:

- 1. As far as is known from actual data, few children smoke before the age of 12, probably less than five percent of the boys and less than one percent of the girls. From age 12 on, however, there is a fairly regular increase in the prevalence of smoking. At the 12th grade level between 40 to 55 percent of children have been found to be smokers. By age 25, estimates of smoking prevalence run as high as 60 percent of men and 36 percent of women. There is a further increase up to 35 and 40 years after which a drop is observed. In the 65 and over age group, prevalence of smoking is only approximately 20 percent among men and 4 percent among women.
- 2. Smokers and non-smokers differ in a number of demographic characteristics but no single comprehensive theory to explain smoking is suggested by the demographic data taken by themselves.
- Although smokers are different from non-smokers psychologically and socially, there are many differences among smokers and among non-smokers, so that some smokers may be like some non-smokers.
- 4. Smoking appears to be not one behavior but a range of psychologically diverse behaviors each of which may be induced by a different combination of factors and may serve different needs. Therefore no single explanation can suffice.
- 5. Social stimulation appears to play a major role in a young person's early and first experiments with smoking.
- 6. There is suggestive evidence that early smoking may be linked with self-esteem and status needs although the nature of this linkage is open to different interpretations.
- 7. No scientific evidence supports the popular hypothesis that smoking among adolescents is an expression of rebellion against authority.

- 8. No differences in intelligence between smoking and non-smoking children have been found, but smokers are more frequent among those who fall behind in scholastic achievements.
- 9. No smoker personality has been established but certain personality factors have been reported to be associated with smoking, among them extroversion, neuroticism, and a disproportionate prevalence of psychosomatic manifestations.
- 10. Stress appears to be less associated with prevalence of smoking than with fluctuations in amount of smoking.
- 11. The cultural milieu seems to have a strong influence, a permissive cultural climate tending to promote and a rejecting or outright prohibitive one to inhibit smoking.
- 12. Less is known about discontinuation than about beginning of smoking, although there is good evidence that it is related to the beginning of the habit, its nature, and duration.

CONCLUSION

The overwhelming evidence points to the conclusion that smoking-its beginning, habituation, and occasional discontinuation-is to a large extent psychologically and socially determined. This does not rule out physiological factors, especially in respect to habituation, nor the existence of predisposing constitutional or hereditary factors.

REFERENCES

- A Report on Personality Factors and Smoking. Part 2. [Eysenck supv] Prepared by Mass-Observation Ltd. August 1962. 27, 24 p.
- Bothwell, P. W. The epidemiology of cigarette smoking in rural school children. Med Offr 102: 125-32, 1959.
- 3. Cartwright, A., Martin, F. M., Thompson, J. G. Distribution and development of smoking habits. Lancet 2: 725-7; 1959.
- Davis, R. Cigarette smoking motivation study. Research Services, London, 1956.
- 5. Earp, J. R. The student who smokes. Yellow Springs, Antioch 1931. 64 p.
- 6. Eysenck, H. J., Tarrant, M., Woolf, M., England, L. Smoking and personality. Brit Med J 1: 1456-60, 1960.
- 7. Haenszel, W., Shimkin, M. B., Miller, H. P. Tobacco smoking patterns in the United States. Public Health Monag No. 45: 1-111, 1956.
- 8. Hammond, E. C. Report to the Surgeon General's Advisory Committee on Smoking and Health.
- 9. Hammond, E. C., Percy, C. Ex-smokers. N Y J Med 58: 2956-9: 1958.
- Heath, C. Differences between smokers and nonsmokers. AMA Arch Intern Med 101: 377-88, 1958.

- 11. Horn, D. Behavioral aspects of cigarette smoking. J Chronic Dis 16: 383-95. 1963.
- 12. Horn, D. Modifying smoking habits in high school students. Children 7: 63-5, April 1960.
- 13. Horn, D., Courts, F. A., Taylor, R. M., Solomon, E. S. Cigarette smoking among high school students. Amer Public Health 49: 1497, 1959.
- 14. Kissen, D. M. Emotional factors cigarette smoking and relapse in pulmonary tuberculosis. Health Bull 18: 38-44, 1960.
- Kissen, D. M. Psycho-social factors in cigarette smoking motivation. Med Offr 104: 365-72, 1960.
- Lawton, M. P. Psycho-social aspects of cigarette smoking. J Health Hum Behav 3: 163-70, 1962.
- 17. Lawton, M., Goldman A. Cigarette smoking and attitude toward the etiology of lung cancer. J Soc Psychol 54: 235-48, 1961.
- Lawton, M., Phillips, R. The relationship between excessive cigarette smoking and psychological tension. Amer J Med Sci 232: 397-402, 1956
- 19. Lilienfeld, A. Emotional and other selected characteristics of cigarette smokers and nonsmokers as related to epidemiological studies of lung cancer and other diseases. J Nat Cancer Inst 22: 259-82, 1959.
- Lynn, R. M. A study of smokers and non-smokers as related to achievement and various personal characteristics. [Abstract] In: Res Prog No. 464, p. 164, 1948.
- McArthur, C. C. The personal and social psychology of smoking. In: James, G., Rosenthal, T. eds. Tobacco and Health. Springfield, Ill., Thomas, 1961. p. 201-9.
- McArthur, C., Waldron, E., Dickinson, J. The psychology of smoking.
 J Abnorm Soc Psychol 56: 267-75, 1958.
- 23. Matarazzo, J. D., Saslow, G. Psychological and related characteristics of smokers and non-smokers. Psychol Bull 57: 493-513, 1960.
- Matarazzo, R. M.; Matarazzo, J. D., Saslow, G., Phillips, J. S. Psychological test and organismic correlates of interview interaction patterns. J Abnorm Soc Psychol 56: 329-38, 1958.
- 25. Moodie, W. Smoking, drinking, and nervousness. Lancet 2: 188-9,
- Sackrin, S., Conover, A. Tobacco smoking in the U.S. in relation to income. USDA Market Res Rep No. 189, 1957.
- Salber, D., MacMahon, R. Cigarette smoking among high school students related to social class and parental smoking habits. Amer J Public Health 51: 1780-9, 1961.
- 28. Salber, E., Worcester, J. Change in women's smoking patterns. Cancer. In press as of September 1963.
- Salber, E. J., Welsh, B., Taylor, S. V. Reasons for smoking given by secondary school children. J Health Hum Behav 4: 118-29, No. 2, Summer 1963.
- Salber, E. J., and others. Recreational activities and attitudes toward smoking: A study of school children. Pediatrics. In press as of September 1963.

- 31. Salber, E. J., Goldman, E., Buka, M., Welsh, B. Smoking habits of high school students in Newton, Mass. New Eng J Med 265: 969-74, 1961.
- 32. Salber, E. J., MacMahon, B. Smoking habits of high school students related to intelligence and achievement. Pediatrics 29: 780-7, 1962.
- 33. Schanfeld, J. Special report to the Surgeon General's Advisory Committee on Smoking and Health.
- 34. Schubert, D. Volunteering as arousal-seeking. [Abstract] Amer Psychol 15: 413, 1960.
- 35. Seltzer, C. Masculinity and smoking. Science 130: 1706-7, 1959.
- Strachey, J., ed. Sigmund Freud three essays on the theory of sexuality.
 In: Inst Psycho-Analyt Lib. London, Hogarth, 1962. No. 57, p. 1-130.
- 37. Straits, B., Sechrest, L. Further support of some findings about the characteristics of smokers and non-smokers. J Consult Psychol In press, 1963.
- 38. Thomas, C. B. Characteristics of smokers compared with non-smokers in a population of healthy young adults including observations on family history, blood pressure, heart rate, body weight, cholesterol, and certain psychologic traits. Ann Intern Med 53: 697-718, 1960.
- 39. Todd, G. Statistics of smoking. 2d edition. Research Paper No. 1. The Tobacco Manufacturers' Standing Committee. London, 1959.